Page 78

THE HIGH COURT OF SOUTH AFRICA

NATAL PROVINCIAL DIVISION

CASE NO:   CC358/05
In the matter between :
THE STATE

and

JACOB GEDLEYIHLEKISA ZUMA



ACCUSED NO. 1

THINT HOLDING (SOUTHERN AFRICA) (PTY) LTD

ACCUSED NO. 2

THINT (PTY) LTD






ACCUSED NO. 3

_______________________________________________________________
HEADS OF ARGUMENT ON BEHALF OF SECOND AND THIRD ACCUSED

_______________________________________________________________
INTRODUCTION

 AUTONUMLGL  
In this application the State seeks an adjournment of the trial.  This is opposed by Accused nos. 2 and 3.  The accused in turn apply for a permanent stay of the prosecution against them, alternatively if the stay is not granted then that the Court in terms of section 342A of the Criminal Procedure Act, 51 of 1977, strike the matter off the roll and impose conditions about the reinstitution of the 

prosecution. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
In these heads of argument we begin by setting out the chronological sequence of the material events that are relevant to the issues relating to this matter. Thereafter we deal with the law relating to the issues that arise for decision.

THE PRE-SHAIK TRIAL PERIOD
 AUTONUMLGL  
(a)
On 28 September 1999 the Minister of Defence, Mr M P G Lekota approved a special review audit of the arms deal process by the Auditor-General.

(b)
On 15 September 2000 the Auditor-General finalised and signed the review
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
In the meantime the Parliamentary Standing Committee on Public Accounts (SCOPA) commenced an investigation and on 2 November 2000 the National Assembly adopted SCOPA’s 14th report
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
On 6 November 2000, McCarthy formally decided to hold a preparatory investigation in terms of Section 28(13) of the National Prosecuting Authority Act 32 of 1998 (NPA Act), into corruption and/or fraud in connection with the arms deal
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
On 13 November 2000 the Auditor-General, the Public Protector and representatives of the NPA and the SIU met and decided to form a Joint Investigation Team (JIT)
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
In January 2001 the President decided that the SIU should not from part of the investigation.

 AUTONUMLGL  
The JIT conducted an investigation between January and November 2001 and submitted its report on 14 November 2001 to Parliament which accepted and approved same
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
The preparatory investigation was converted (by McCarthy) into a formal investigation in terms of Section 28(1)(a) of the NPA Act on 24 August 2001
. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
During October 2001:

(a)
the State launched, alternatively, caused proceedings to be launched directed at securing a Letter of Request for mutual legal assistance from the Ministry of Justice in the Republic of France for the search of certain premises in France and the seizure of documents and the examination of certain witnesses;

(b)
purportedly pursuant to the said request, the offices of the Thales Group in Paris and the homes of certain of its employees were searched. Numerous documents were also seized;

(c)
during the same period (October 2001), the State launched an application in the Supreme Court of Mauritius, requesting assistance in the investigation or prosecution of an Economic Offence;

(d)
purportedly pursuant to the application an Order was granted authorising the search of the offices of Thales International Africa Limited in Mauritius. The homes of certain of its employees were also searched and numerous documents and records were seized. Some of the documents seized are still being retained by the Mauritian authorities
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
During the same period application was made for a warrant for the arrest of Thetard
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
By 2002 the State had gained a picture of a financial relationship between Shaik and Accused No. 1. As a result a recommendation was made to McCarthy to expand the terms of reference for the investigation to cover this aspect. McCarthy accepted this recommendation on 22 October 2002 and formally extended the investigation to encompass the suspected general relationship between Shaik and Accused No. 1
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
(a)
The DSO investigation team considered the information at hand and recommended that the NPA institute a criminal prosecution against Accused No. 1
.

(b)
McCarthy and Ngcuka did not accept the recommendation as Ngcuka was not sure that the State had “a winnable case”. This view was tested with senior counsel in private practice who concurred with the decision
.

(c)
On 23 August 2003 Ngcuka and Maduna held a media conference and announced the decision not to prosecute Accused No. 1
.

THE PERIOD FROM THE DECISION TO CHARGE SHAIK TO SERVICE OF THE INDICTMENT IN THAT MATTER

 AUTONUMLGL  
(a)
During August 2003 the State decided to prosecute Shaik and his Nkobi Group of companies.

(b)
Shaik appeared in the magistrate’s court on 25 August 2003 and was presented with a draft charge sheet. The charges referred to benefits given to Accused No. 1 by Shaik and Accused No. 3
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
During November 2003, the Third Accused was indicted together with Shaik and other corporate accused he represented, on charges including fraud and corruption
.  

 AUTONUMLGL  
The indictment was served on Shaik, the Nkobi Group of companies and the present Accused No. 3 on 2 February 2004. The “final” version of the indictment was dated 12 August 2004
. The State was thus able to produce and serve the indictment within a period of seven (7) months.

 AUTONUMLGL  
The charges were withdrawn against the Third Accused at the commencement of that trial on the 11th October 2004 as a result of the agreement that was concluded which is referred to hereunder.

 AUTONUMLGL  
The Shaik trial has been concluded and has resulted in the conviction of Shaik and some of the other accused. The matter is currently on appeal.

THE PERIOD FROM APRIL 2004 TO THE WITHDRAWAL OF THE CHARGES AGAINST ACCUSED NO. 3 IN THE SHAIK TRIAL

 AUTONUMLGL  
(a)
On 5 April 2004 a meeting was held at the home of Dr Maduna (Maduna). The Meeting was arranged by Sooklal at the request of Moynot. Driman (an attorney instructed by Accused No. 3 at the time) addressed a letter to Maduna dated 12 March 2004 (“RFD1”) on the instructions of Moynot
. A further letter was addressed dated 2 April 2004 confirming the date of the meeting
. It is pertinent that none of the letters recorded that they were written on a privileged or confidential basis nor did they refer to the meeting as one that would be privileged or confidential.

(b)
No explanation is provided by Maduna for his involvement in a matter that does not relate to the affairs of his office as Minister. This in itself suggests that he had taken an interest in the matter which makes it improbable that he would not have actively participated in the discussions that had taken place. 

(c)
The result of the meeting was an indication by Ngcuka that he was prepared to withdraw the charges against Accused No. 3 as well as the warrants of arrest and subpoena in relation to Thetard, provided the State is supplied with an affidavit by Thetard wherein he confirms authorship of the “encrypted fax”
. 

(d)
As a consequence of the meeting:

(i)
Driman requested to see the encrypted fax and he and Guerrier were allowed to view same
;

(ii)
Driman addressed two letters dated 6 April 2004 “RFD3” and “RFD4”, to Maduna and Ngcuka, respectively
;

(e)

In annexures “RFD3”
 and “RFD4”, Driman stated that:-  


“We record our appreciation and that of our client at your being prepared to discuss matters of mutual concern.”

“We have viewed the evidence
 that we requested to see and which you facilitated us seeing”

“You will recall that our request
  was based on the propositions made to us regarding the idea of co-operation which may still be required from a witness
 in the employ of our client.”


“Upon reflection of the evidence which we saw … it appears to us that we may still require your further indulgence before we may respond more fully.”

“It was mentioned to us that simple evidence of a brief nature - to whatever effect the evidence may be (which we cannot pre-judge because we have not taken an instruction) – may be sufficient to answer the requirements you have.”

“We request that you inform us precisely what it is that you want to know from the witness.”

“We point out that if the evidence which it is suggested may be required is asked for, one possible answer (without pre-judging what it might be) may have severe consequences other than legal consequences, which our client has had to inform you previously it could not entertain being a party to.”

“… should our client agree to give such requested evidence, our client will require certain safeguards to ensure no possible further consequences to its international reputation and integrity.”

“…, if the witness gave evidence, what certainty our client may be afforded regarding the finality of the request and its need to give evidence, and what safeguards may be afforded to ensure a finite end to the matter.”



(f)
No response was received to Driman’s letters “RFD3” and “RFD4”, disputing their contents. Neither Ngcuka nor Maduna took issue with Driman for his having recorded the discussions in writing.

(g)
Following upon the meeting, the discussions and the request to view the encrypted fax, a meeting took place between Ngcuka and Naidu SC on 19 April 2004. Arising from that meeting an agreement was concluded which was referred to by Ngcuka in the letter dated 19 April 2004
. 

(h)
The affidavit requested, dated 20 April 2004, was duly supplied and handed to McCarthy on 26 April 2004
.

(i)
Receipt of the required affidavit was confirmed by the NDPP in a letter dated 4 May 2004. In the same letter the NDPP confirmed the undertaking to withdraw the charges against Accused No. 3
.

(j)
A further affidavit (the “second affidavit”) was then supplied by Thetard which affidavit is dated 10 May 2004. In this second affidavit Thetard indicated his willingness to submit to an interview and to testify in any forum in France if so directed by a competent court
. The affidavit was handed to McCarthy by Naidu SC on 22 May 2004. The State’s response in respect of this affidavit is dealt with by McCarthy where he states that:- 

“I would add that the NPA has always regarded the main assertions in this affidavit about the encrypted fax as untruthful and its unsolicited and unheralded production as cynical manoeuvre aimed at disrupting the prosecution in the Shaik trial and discrediting the encrypted fax.”
 (sic)

(k)
Diplall, on the instructions of Sooklal wrote on 26 May 2004 to McCarthy stating “as matters stand, accused no. 11 is still an accused” and requests copies of documents
. 

(l)
Diplall wrote two further letters on 31 May and 1 June 2004. The 1 June letter relates to the withdrawal of the letter of request that had not taken place
. 

(m)
On 7 June 2004 Steynberg, on behalf of the DSO, confirmed that Thetard had indicated his willingness to submit to an interview. No mention is made of any repudiation of the agreement/undertaking
. 

(n)
On 8 June McCarthy, on behalf of the DSO, confirmed that the NDPP had given his unequivocal undertaking to withdraw the charges against Accused No. 3 at the next appearance stating further that “there is thus no prospect of the prosecution proceeding against him in the present matter”
. 

(o)
Also on 8 June 2004 Ngcuka confirms that Thetard had indicated his willingness to submit to an interview
. 

(p)
It is clear that by 8 June both the DSO and the NDPP had received the second affidavit and had read the contents thereof. It is only on this basis that they could have been aware of the fact that Thetard was prepared to submit to an interview. Neither the DSO nor the NDPP mentioned a repudiation of the agreement/undertaking.

(q)
On 1 July 2004 the attorneys acting for Thetard indicated that he was, in essence, not prepared to submit to an interview on the basis proposed by the State but that the original offer made in the second affidavit stood as such, namely to consult with Ngcuka and/or McCarthy in Paris
.

(r)
On 16 July 2004 Steynberg, on behalf of the NDPP, reiterated that the undertaking to withdraw the charges against Accused No. 3 stood and added for the first time that nothing in the undertaking should be presumed, explicitly or impliedly, to amount to an indemnity from prosecution for “one or other of your clients”. No mention was made of a repudiation of any nature
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
In the application brought in this court by Accused No. 3 under case number 6262/2004 for an order directing Ngcuka to cause the charges against Accused No. 3 to be withdrawn on a date prior to 11 October 2004, neither Ngcuka nor McCarthy made any mention of the second affidavit of Thetard constituting any repudiation or breach of the agreement concluded on 19 April 2004. This, in spite of the fact that the agreement was pivotal to the issues debated before that court.

 AUTONUMLGL  
(a)
The State withdrew the charges against Accused No. 3 on 11 October 2004. At the time of the withdrawal, Senior Counsel acting on behalf of the State, noted that the charges were being withdrawn as a result of an agreement reached between the State and Accused No. 3.

(b)
Du Plooy, in his affidavit dated 11 August 2005, in support of the application for search warrants which application was made to the Judge President of the TPD stated that the charges were withdrawn “solely as a result of the agreement and not because of any considerations of the merits of the charges”.

(c)
Du Plooy repeated this contention in the answering affidavit delivered on behalf of the State where the State opposed the application by, inter alia, Accused No. 3 for the setting aside of the search warrant in respect of its premises.

(d)
Isak Du Plooy referred to the agreement in his affidavit dated 2 March 2006 relating to the application brought by the State in terms of Section 2(2) of the ICCM Act
 stating that the agreement to withdraw the charges was never intended or understood to amount to an indemnity from prosecution. More importantly, he does not refer to any alleged repudiation at all.

(e)
The first mention of any alleged failure by Accused No. 3 to comply with the terms of the agreement is found in the affidavit of Du Plooy delivered in opposition to the application to compel further particulars dated 4 May 2006
. It is not disputed that the State either informally or in writing took no steps to inform the legal representatives of accused no. 3 that it regarded accused no. 3 as being in breach of the agreement.

 AUTONUMLGL  
In spite of the alleged repudiation, the State has made it plain that it will abide by the agreement as is evident from the following:

(a)
McCarthy stated in paragraph 39(d) and (e) of his affidavit dated 19 August 2004 in the application under case number 6262/2004:- 

“in any event since charges will be withdrawn against the applicant on 11 October 2004, any ‘dissatisfaction’ with Thetard could not be ameliorated by refusing to withdraw charges sooner. The first respondent (Ngcuka) has no intention of reneging on his decision to withdraw the charges against the applicant and no basis whatsoever in set out for the applicant’s concern voiced by Moynot in paragraph 40.6 of his affidavit.”
;

(b)
On 11 October 2004 Downer SC withdrew the charges expressly in terms of the agreement
;

(c)
Regarding the withdrawal of the charges on 11 October 2004, McCarthy states that:-

 “it would have served no useful purpose at that time to become embroiled in an argument regarding Thomson (Pty)’s performance of the terms of the agreement. Indeed, in light of the State’s (and Moynot’s) understanding that the agreement to withdraw did not amount to a permanent indemnity from prosecution, the issue of the breach was then largely irrelevant.”
;

It is pertinent to note that accused no. 3 contended that in terms of the agreement the State could not re-prosecute, therefore the alleged breach could not be treated by the State as being irrelevant.

(d)

Pikoli states in his letter dated 9 June 2006 that:-

“Notwithstanding this, and for reasons of expedience, the prosecution nevertheless decided to withdraw the charges on the 11th of October. We are of the view, therefore, that despite your client’s repudiation of the agreement, the NPA performed as agreed.”

 AUTONUMLGL  
It has taken the State from October 2004 to May 2006 – a period of approximately 20 months – to indicate a failure by Accused No. 3 to comply with the terms of the agreement. Even then it fails to indicate in which way Accused No. 3 failed to comply.

THE POST SHAIK TRIAL PERIOD

 AUTONUMLGL  
Subsequent to the Shaik trial, the First Accused was charged and appeared in the Durban Magistrate’s Court on 29 June 2005. He was released on bail and the matter was postponed to 11 October 2005
. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
Prior to the appearance on 11 October 2005 various search warrants were obtained and executed (on 18 August 2005) by the officers purportedly acting on behalf of the National Director of Public Prosecutions which led to the seizure of a large amount of documents
. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
On 29 September 2005 Steynberg wrote to Hulley and stated that:

(a)

some 93 000 documents were seized on 18 August;

(b)
the State intended to apply for a further postponement of the matter;

(c)
the State intended serving an indictment during March 2006;

(d)
the State envisaged requesting a postponement of the matter from the Magistrate’s Court to the High Court without an indictment having been served
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
On 11 October 2005, Counsel for the State (Downer SC) handed up a letter from the Director of Public Prosecutions of KZN requesting the magistrate to adjourn the matter to the High Court to a date in March 2006 for the service of an indictment on Accused 1. He indicated that the State and Accused 1 would, in the interim, approach the Judge President for a trial date
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
Senior Counsel for the First Accused, on 11 October 2005, opposed the State’s application to postpone the matter to the High Court without an indictment having been served.

 AUTONUMLGL  
After argument was addressed by the State and Counsel for the First Accused, an agreement was concluded between the parties pursuant to which the matter was then postponed to 12 November 2005 for the indictment to be served on the First Accused.  When the agreement was recorded before the Court, Counsel for the State indicated that a “provisional” indictment will be served on the agreed date whereupon Counsel for the First Accused indicated that the First Accused would settle for nothing less than an indictment which complied with the provisions of Section 144 of Act 51 of 1977. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
On 12 October 2005, the State represented by Downer SC and Steynberg and the legal representatives of Accused 1 approached the Judge President in chambers and agreed to the trial dates - 31 July 2006 to 30 November 2006.

THE PERIOD FROM SERVICE OF THE “INDICTMENT” ON THE ACCUSED 

 AUTONUMLGL  
The present “provisional” indictment was served on the Second and Third Accused on 4 November 2005
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
On 10 March 2006 an application was heard by Combrinck J in terms whereof the State sought a letter of request to be issued for obtaining the documents seized in Mauritius. The application was opposed by Second and Third Accused. Combrinck J held that he could not grant the Order sought as he did not have the jurisdiction to do so and that it was a matter for the trial judge
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
On 24 March 2006 Second and Third Accused served a request for further particulars on the State. The State was requested to comply with the request by no later than 18 April 2006.

 AUTONUMLGL  
The State failed to comply and instead delivered a “reply” which effectively stated that the State could not reply because of the various challenges that had been launched against the search warrants issued in the TPD.

 AUTONUMLGL  
On 12 May 2006 the Second and Third Accused (with the First Accused intervening) sought an Order from Levinsohn DJP for the delivery of the further particulars. The Accused did not persist in seeking an Order for the delivery of an indictment which complies with section 144 of the Criminal Procedure Act. The application was refused
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
During the course of the argument before Levinsohn DJP, counsel for the State repeatedly made reference to the “provisional” indictment
. There can be little doubt that the State has in mind an indictment which is provisional in nature for the following reasons: 

(a)
Counsel for the State confirmed on 11 October 2005 that the indictment was “provisional”
;

(b)
A spokesperson for the National Director of Public Prosecutions indicated during an interview on national television on 11 October 2005 that the State had supplied a “semblance of an indictment”
;

(c)
The State’s purported response to the Second and Third Accused’ request for particulars acknowledges its inability to supply a “’final’ indictment as envisaged on 11 October 2005”. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
There is no provision in the Criminal Procedure Act for a “provisional” indictment. Any indictment served in terms of section 144 of the Criminal Procedure Act must record the necessary allegations to comply with the requirements for a valid indictment.

 AUTONUMLGL  
On 29 June 2006 the application of Second and Third Accused to set aside the search warrants executed on 18 August 2005 was heard. The application was refused.

 AUTONUMLGL  
On 8 June 2006 Sooklal requested reasons from Pikoli for the NPA’s decisions to withdraw charges against Accused No. 3 and for the re-prosecution of Accused No. 3
. Pikoli responded on 9 June 2006
. He states that the “agreement went no further than to withdraw the charges in that specific prosecution” (sic)
. He goes further to say, in respect of the second affidavit by Thetard, that it was “false, disingenuous and calculated to destroy any evidentiary value that might otherwise have been attached to the first affidavit. In our view, therefore, that it is your client who repudiated the agreement”
 (sic).

THE REASONS FOR THE ADJOURNMENT

 AUTONUMLGL  
After service by Accused No. 2 and Accused No. 3 of their request for further particulars:-

(a)

Steynberg indicated in a letter dated 7 April 2006 that “the agreed trial date of 31 July 2006 is becoming increasingly unrealistic”
;

(b)
The State delivered a “reply” to the request for further particulars stating the reasons for its inability to reply to the request
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
The purported reply (“PM3”) is signed by Steynberg and listed the following as reasons for not replying to the request:-

(a)
The numerous applications challenging the legality of the searches conducted on 18 August 2005 resulting in the State’s lack of knowledge of “what evidence it will have at its disposal to substantiate the charges it wishes to bring”;

(b)
The application for mutual legal assistance in terms of the International Co-Operation in Criminal Matters Act, No 75 of 1996 had been referred to the trial court for determination.

 AUTONUMLGL  
That these were the only reasons is confirmed by the repeated use of “For the reasons mentioned above”.

 AUTONUMLGL  
The reply ends by stating that:- “without knowing precisely on what evidence it is able to rely and, in particular, without access to the forensic accountant’s report, the State is simply not able to answer the request at this time”
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
Du Plooy deposed to an affidavit in answer to the Application to compel further particulars. In this affidavit he stated that:- 

(a)
“This provisional indictment would be based on the evidence available to the State as at the conclusion of the Shaik case”
.

(b)
“The Second and Third Accused were charged on 12 November 2005 on the same indictment as the First Accused, on charges based on almost the same facts as relied upon in relation to counts 1 and 3 in the Shaik case and on the strength of the evidence available to the prosecution at the time of such case”
.

(c)
“The State knows full well what it can prove insofar as the evidence available to it at the Shaik trial is concerned and this is by and large what is alleged in the provisional indictment. However that is not the issue. As set out more fully above, this evidence only goes as far as September 2002, and until such time as the State is in a position to know what further evidence it may rely upon, it will not be able to have any certainty about exactly it can prove in this trial”
 (sic). 

 AUTONUMLGL  
It is further clear, from a reading of the affidavit of Du Plooy in the Application to compel, that the only relevant further evidence sought were those that emerged during the Shaik trial
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
Even more illuminating are the reasons advanced in paragraph 18 of his affidavit where he lists the evidence which may allegedly affect the charges ultimately preferred against the respective accused
. The “list” is limited to further payments and/or repayments after the period previously investigated and “any other evidence regarding the bribe agreement or payments that may be obtained”
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
Some of the matters allegedly requiring investigation relates to aspects which formed the subject matter of the Shaik trial. Du Plooy mentions, for instance, that the aspect of the 11 March 2000 meeting requires further investigation “which might result in the amendment to the structure and the form of the indictment
”. The State has led its evidence in the Shaik trial in respect of the meeting and there ought to be no further need for it to obtain any further evidence.

 AUTONUMLGL  
Equally uninformative are the passages of his affidavit where he deals with the events that could allegedly influence the final indictment. He is completely silent as to the actual amendments intended by the State
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
It is, in fact, clear that the State has steadfastly avoided informing anyone as to the nature of the alleged substantial amendments to the indictment apart from the fact that it intends effecting them. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
Du Plooy correctly states, in support of the application for the adjournment, that Section 168 of the CPA vests the Honourable Court with a judicial discretion whether to grant an adjournment or not
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
A judicial discretion falls to be exercised upon a consideration of all the relevant facts and circumstances of a matter. This would include a consideration of the nature of the alleged amendments to the indictment. The Honourable Court can do that only when the State actually tells it what the amendments are, which it refuses to do.

 AUTONUMLGL  
According to Steynberg none of the above investigations could proceed because of the challenges to the search warrants. It, accordingly, rings hollow when the State does an about turn and commits to proceeding to trial with the evidence that is not subject to other litigation
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
(a)
Nothwithstanding what is stated by Steynberg and Du Plooy, McCarthy has indicated that the trial will proceed even if the other litigation has not been resolved. It is difficult to understand why this attitude was not taken earlier so that the trial could have commenced and the further particulars could have been provided.

(b)
McCarthy states that:-


“If the search warrant applications have not yet been settled by the time of trial in this matter, then the State will proceed with all the evidence that is not subject to an operative order that prohibits it from doing so…”

 AUTONUMLGL  
In the light of this attitude any adjournment sought to enable the outstanding litigation to be finalised cannot be justified.

THE RELEVANCE OF AND ADMISSIBILITY OF THE FINDINGS MADE IN THE SHAIK TRIAL 

 AUTONUMLGL  
Save where reference is made to the judgment for information purposes, it would be impermissible to have regard to those findings in any respect in considering the disputes of fact in resolving them for this application or in considering the guilt of the accused. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
This follows from the principle in Hollington v F Hewthorn & Co Ltd [1943] 2 All ER 35 (CA), and has been applied in many cases in South Africa.
  

 AUTONUMLGL  
Accordingly, wherever the State refers to the findings by Squires J in support of its case, this must be ignored.  The findings of Squires J is an opinion of another Court and cannot affect this Court’s decision on the matter.  This Court has to consider the matter afresh and decide the matter without regard thereto.

THE RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL

 AUTONUMLGL  
Section 35 (3) of the Constitution (“FC”) provides for the trial rights that are applicable in relation to an accused person as follows:

“(3)
Every accused person has a right to a fair trial, which includes the right—

(a)
to be informed of the charge with sufficient detail to answer it;

(b)
to have adequate time and facilities to prepare a defence;


(c)
to a public trial before an ordinary court;

(d)
to have their trial begin and conclude without unreasonable delay;


(e)
to be present when being tried;

(f)
to choose, and be represented by, a legal practitioner, and to be informed of this right promptly;

(g)
to have a legal practitioner assigned to the accused person by the state and at state expense, if substantial injustice would otherwise result, and to be informed of this right promptly;

(h)
to be presumed innocent, to remain silent, and not to testify during the proceedings;

(i)
to adduce and challenge evidence;

(j)
not to be compelled to give self-incriminating evidence;

(k)
to be tried in a language that the accused person understands or, if that is not practicable, to have the proceedings interpreted in that language;

(l)
not to be convicted for an act or omission that was not an offence under either national or international law at the time it was committed or omitted;

(m)
not to be tried for an offence in respect of an act or omission for which that person has previously been either acquitted or convicted;

(n)
to the benefit of the least severe of the prescribed punishments if the prescribed punishment for the offence has been changed between the time that the offence was committed and the time of sentencing; and


(o)
of appeal to, or review by, a higher court.”

 AUTONUMLGL  
The right to a fair trial was described by the Constitutional Court when dealing with the similar right in the interim Constitution (“IC”), as follows
:

“The right to a fair trial conferred by that provision is broader than the list of specific rights set out in paragraphs (a) to (j) of the subsection. It embraces a concept of substantive fairness which is not to be equated with what might have passed muster in our criminal courts before the Constitution came into force.”

 AUTONUMLGL  
The right to a fair trial is therefore broader and encompasses rights other than those that are specifically set out in paragraphs (a) to (j). It has been described as follows by Steytler:

“The dictum is important, first, for asserting that the articulated fair trial rights should be seen as a set of minimum guarantees and second, for extending the concept of a fair trial to include “substantive fairness”.
 

 AUTONUMLGL  
The substantive fairness of a trial relates to the fairness of the prosecution itself and not the fairness of the manner in which the trial is conducted. Steytler describes this as follows:

“The concept of a fair trial within the meaning of section 35 (3) of the Constitution is broader than the conduct of the trial in terms of constitutionally mandated rules and procedures.  It is submitted that it also includes a judgment whether the very institution of the prosecution is fair, regardless of how fairly the ensuing trial may be conducted.  This substantive definition of fairness is inherent in the provisions of section 35 (3) itself.  The right against double jeopardy is not concerned with the way the second trial is conducted (which may comply with all the principles of a fair trial), but prohibits the institution of a second trial.  The unfairness of an attorney-general’s decision to prosecute a second time is thus the proper focus of the right.  Likewise, the right against retroactive offences does not prescribe how a trial should be conducted, but proscribes a prosecution altogether.  The fairness of the trial is thus judged not in terms of the modalities of the trial but the fairness of the prosecution itself.”

 AUTONUMLGL  
There are a variety of ways in which the substantive fairness of a trial can be affected.  These can include entrapment
, abduction of the accused person to stand trial
, bringing a prosecution in breach of an agreement not to prosecute
, eavesdropping and interception by the State of attorney client communications
 and an accused represented by someone posing as an advocate
.  These are all examples of misconduct that render the proceedings invalid on the grounds that such proceedings cannot pass the test for legality.  It will be noted where the conduct of the State’s representatives is in question it can relate to the investigatory and/or the prosecutorial arms of the State.
      

 AUTONUMLGL  
Where the challenge is based on delay in the bringing of the prosecution and in the prosecution of the case, the accused would be relying upon one of the enumerated constitutional rights viz. the right in section 35 (3) (d) to “have their trial begin and conclude without unreasonable delay”.  In the IC the right enjoyed by an accused person was to a public trial “within a reasonable time after having been charged”. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
The right in the IC commenced once the accused was charged.  The FC has a broader right and would include the right to have the trial begin without unreasonable delay, and therefore the period before the accused was charged would also be relevant in determining whether the right was infringed.

 AUTONUMLGL  
In the Sanderson case the Constitutional Court interpreted the right to a trial without unreasonable delay.  In determining the prejudice suffered by an accused it referred to the approach in USA and Canada viz. to take into account non-trial related prejudice, that : “In the main, the rights primarily protected by such speedy trial provisions are perceived to be liberty, security and trial-related interests.”
 After considering the impact that a prosecution can have on an accused and the various effects it can have on his integrity, liberty and self worth, the Court stated that non-trial related prejudice is also relevant in determining whether infringement to an accused’s right to a trial without unreasonable delay has occurred.

 AUTONUMLGL  
We proceed hereafter to consider the effect of the agreement that was concluded and the question of the unreasonable delay to have the trial begin and conclude. 

THE AGREEMENT CONCLUDED BETWEEN THE STATE & ACCUSED NO.3

 AUTONUMLGL  
The State contends that the agreement was nothing more than an agreement to a deferment indefinitely of the prosecution.  The accused on the other hand contend that the effect of the agreement was that the State abandoned the prosecution and in essence agreed that accused no. 3 would not be further prosecuted in respect of the matter (which is different from an immunity from prosecution).

 AUTONUMLGL  
(a)
The agreement itself was somewhat cryptic in that all it stated was that 

“the National Prosecuting Authority will be prepared to:

(a)
retract the subpoena and 2 warrants of arrest issued against him;

(b)
withdraw the prosecution against accused 11 as contained in the charge sheet.”

(b)

The person referred to in paragraph (a) of the letter is Alain Thetard, who was required to provide the State with the following information:

“an affidavit, verily, to the effect that he is the author of the letter, marked annexure A”

(c)

However the agreement does not fall to be interpreted simply on the words recorded in the letter.  It is permissible and indeed necessary to have regard to the evidence of the background/surrounding circumstances when the agreement was concluded to arrive at its proper meaning.

(d)

It is permissible to have regard to the following in determining the proper meaning of the agreement: 

“The correct approach to the application of the 'golden rule' of interpretation after having ascertained the literal meaning of the word or phrase in question is, broadly speaking, to have regard:

(i)
to the context in which the word or phrase is used with its interrelation to the contract as a whole, including the nature and purpose of the contract, as stated by Rumpff CJ supra;

(ii)
to the background circumstances which explain the genesis and purpose of the contract, ie to matters probably present to the minds of the parties when they contracted.

(iii)
to apply extrinsic evidence regarding the surrounding circumstances when the language of the document is on the face of it ambiguous, by considering previous negotiations and correspondence between the parties, subsequent conduct of the parties showing the sense in which they acted on the document, save direct evidence of their own intentions.” (case references are omitted)

 AUTONUMLGL  
The background/surrounding circumstances that are relevant here (much of which is not in dispute) are the following:

(a)
Thales was concerned about the reputation and integrity of the companies in the group arising from the allegations made in the indictment and this was affecting its business internationally;

(b)
through Sooklal a meeting was arranged with the Minister of Justice and the NDPP to discuss its concerns and to find a way extra curially of resolving the prosecution of accused no. 3;

(c)
the Minister of Justice and the NDPP were receptive to the representations that were made, and were interested in reaching an agreement with accused no. 3, if the State was provided with information;

(d)
the attorney representing accused no. 3, Driman, requested sight of the encrypted fax and this was acceded to;

(e)
the State’s policy is that co-conspirators should be tried together. The indictment that had been prepared and served and on the charges faced by both Shaik and accused no. 3, the State alleged they were co-conspirators;

(f)
the meeting was followed up by letters from Driman in which he indicated that accused no. 3 would want to achieve finality on the matter in an agreement, and that it was of concern what the legal and other implications to the Thales Group would be if the information was provided ; 

(g)
a meeting was then held on 19 April 2004 between the NDPP and representatives of the Thales Group, at which the agreement recorded in the letter was reached;

(h)
the NDPP required from Thetard an official employed in the Thales Group, that he confirm his authorship of the letter, but did not indicate how this would assist the State; 

(i)
by that time the NDPP had announced publicly that his offices had reviewed all of the evidence and he was not satisfied that it was sufficient to succeed in the prosecution of accused no. 1, in addition he had sought legal advice of a senior counsel who confirmed this;

(j)
the NDPP also stated that the decision not to prosecute accused no. 1 would be reviewed should any further evidence come to light, and therefore it had not closed its investigation of the case against him;

(k)
the NDPP does not say that the information sought from Thetard would not be relevant to the investigation against accused no. 1.

 AUTONUMLGL  
(a)
It is also relevant to have regard to the subsequent conduct of the parties in considering the meaning of the agreement.

(b)
The affidavit from Thetard was provided to the NDPP.

(c)
The NDPP writes to state that this was compliance with the agreement and that he was instructing the officials to withdraw the warrants and the subpoena and will withdraw the charges against accused No. 3 on the date of next appearance.

(d)
The NDPP in his letter also seeks further information and the co-operation of Thetard to be interviewed and to possibly testify;

(e)
A letter is written by Steynberg saying that the agreement is not to be construed as an immunity from prosecution.  His letter appears to be nothing more than an interpretation placed on the letter from the NDPP, and does not indicate that he had regard to the surrounding circumstances mentioned above, or that he has discussed the matter with the NDPP.  It is therefore no indication of what the parties intended by the agreement. 

(f)
The letter from Steynberg is an acknowledgement that accused no. 3 considered that in terms of the agreement the State could not try it again, hence his rebuttal.

(g)
McCarthy states that the second affidavit was not received in terms of any agreement or in return for indemnity
.

(h)
Downer places on record when the charges are withdrawn that this is pursuant to the agreement.  Nothing is recorded to the effect that the withdrawal is not final.

(i)
When Moynot testifies in the Shaik trial he is not warned by the State that the questions he will be asked may incriminate him, because the State may prosecute him as the representative of accused nos. 2 and 3, as it is ordinarily required to do if that was its intention.

(j)
In the Shaik trial the State does not rely on the affidavit by Thetard in which he confirms his authorship of the letter.

(k)
The decision to prosecute accused nos. 2 and 3 is taken after the judgment in the Shaik trial is delivered.

 AUTONUMLGL  
These facts can be properly taken into account in the interpretation of the agreement. The following probabilities emerge from these facts: 

(a)
the Thales Group would not have been interested in a provisional withdrawal of the charges, because the allegations made against accused no. 3 was damaging its reputation and its business and if anything it would have wanted the withdrawal of the charges to be the end of the prosecution, and a temporary reprieve would not achieve its ends;

(b)
the above purpose for the agreement was known to the NDPP and is also evidenced in its requirement that an agreement result in finality;

(c)
for the State to provisionally withdraw the charges against accused no. 3, would require it to depart from its policy regarding co-conspirators, and result in immense duplication of the costs and resources that it would incur in trying Shaik, therefore the prospect of it intending to re-try accused no. 3 must be remote and unlikely, hence it is improbable that it entertained any intention to re-prosecute accused no. 3; 

(d)
the State was not oblivious to the strength of its case against accused no. 1, and if anything would have been interested in information that would assist it in a prosecution of accused no.1; 

(e)
when the discussions took place with the representatives of the Thales Group, the indictment had only been served on Shaik and accused no. 3, so it was still open to add accused no. 1 as a further accused if it obtained information that would assist it, and this would be in line with its policy to try co-conspirators together; 

(f)
the affidavit from Thetard was the type of information that is obtained as part of an investigation, and not for use in a trial where it would invariably be inadmissible, and was in any event not used by the State in the Shaik trial, thus it is more probable that the affidavit was obtained to further the investigation against accused no. 1; 

(g)
had the intention been to re-prosecute accused no. 3, the additional requests would not have been made viz. to interview Thetard and possibly call him as a witness; furthermore when the prosecutor cross-examined Moynot he would have been aware of the need to warn him of his right against self incrimination and would have done so had there been an intention to prosecute him as the representative of accused nos. 2 and 3, in addition the Shaik judgment would not have been so pivotal in the timing of the decision to re-prosecute accused no. 3;

(h)
considering the above it is more probable that the State intended by the agreement that the withdrawal would amount to an abandonment of the prosecution.

 AUTONUMLGL  
In at least two cases involving agreements to withdraw criminal charges, the courts examined the surrounding circumstances, and considered the nature of the quid pro quo derived by the State from the agreement, in interpreting the same. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
(a)
The first case is the North Western Dense Concrete case
.  In that matter there were three accused.  The State agreed to withdraw the charges against two of the accused in exchange for a plea of guilty from one of the accused.  Pursuant thereto the relevant accused pleaded guilty and the charges against the other two were withdrawn. Thereafter application was made by a third party for a nolle prosequi and in considering that application the State decided to reinstate charges and the two accused were summonsed to appear in Court.

(b)
The two accused then brought an application in the High Court for an order staying the prosecution.

(c)
The Court upheld the validity of a plea bargain and considered that nothing in law precluded the State from concluding such an agreement, hence it would be bound by such an agreement.

(d)
The State however contested the meaning and interpretation to be given to the agreement.  It argued that all the State agreed to was a withdrawal of the charges, and this did not amount to an abandonment of the prosecution.

(e)
The Court rejected that construction as being too narrow.  It took into account the benefit derived by the State in the form of the guilty plea, that the State did not intend to take the matter further and that the new prosecution only followed from the application for the certificate.

(f)
In the absence of any express term reserving the right to re-prosecute, the State had compromised its right to prosecute.
  

(g)
The Court then examined the matter from the constitutional perspective and found that there was a duty on a prosecutor, who stood in a special relationship to the Court and was bound in terms of the Constitution, to treat an accused fairly and to respect his constitutional rights.   

 AUTONUMLGL  
(a)
The second case that involved an agreement between the State and an accused is the Van Eeden matter
.  In that matter there were two accused, and in terms of the compromise the one accused would plea guilty to an alternative charge and the State would withdraw the charge against the other accused.

(b)
Subsequently the State re-charged the one accused against whom the charges were withdrawn.  The prosecutor agreed to withdraw the charges because she took the view that there was insufficient evidence to succeed with the prosecution.  The docket contained statements from two policemen that were evidently inconsistent with the version of the two accused who in their statements exculpated the one accused. An application was then brought in the High Court to stay the prosecution.

(c)
The interesting aspect about this matter is that the prosecutor said that she withdrew the charge because she believed that the State did not have a good case and not because of the agreement.
  The Court decided the matter on the basis that she was mistaken about the State’s prospects of success, but that the State had conducted itself in such a manner to lead a reasonable person in the position of the accused to believe that the State was assenting to an offer that the accused had made.

(d)
This is particularly apposite to the facts in this case, as the State disputes what the agreement means, and does so, not on any express or implied term that supports its interpretation of the agreement, but on its subjective intention as to what it intended to achieve by the agreement.

(e)
However in interpreting the agreement the Court accepted that “one … cannot automatically infer from a guilty plea by one accused and a withdrawal of charges against another accused that there has been a plea bargain which binds the state not to re-institute charges”.  In dealing with this issue the Court asked why the one accused pleaded guilty in exchange for the withdrawal of charges against the other accused.  The Court concluded from this that the State undertook not to prosecute the accused again.

(f)
In dealing with the binding effect of an agreement of this nature the Court found that it did not matter whether it is treated as a contract or an undertaking to which the State is bound under public law principles.  It held that the State was bound on the basis that :
“This is an aspect of the constitutional right to a fair trial.”

(g)
This again distinguishes the agreement from an immunity from prosecution.  An immunity from prosecution is an indemnity that does not ordinarily arise from any consensus although it could in some cases. The undertaking that arises from an agreement is based on a compromise in terms of which the State gives up the right to a trial, as would the accused.  This distinguishing feature is referred to in the judgment of Justice Douglas:

“However important plea bargaining may be in the administration of criminal justice, our opinions have established that a guilty plea is a serious and sobering occasion inasmuch as it constitutes a waiver of the fundamental right to a jury trial, to confront one’s accusers, to present witnesses in one’s defence, to remain silent and to be convicted by proof beyond all reasonable doubt.”
 (case references omitted)

(h)
The Court analysed the right to a fair trial and accepted that it included “a concept of substantive fairness”.

(i)

Having come to that conclusion it then stated:

“One of the elements of those ‘notions of basic fairness and justice’ is that the State is to be held to a plea bargain which it has made or is deemed to have made.  This is an element of substantive fairness.  As Uijs AJ held in North Western Dense Concrete, it would be ‘palpably unfair’ to allow the prosecution to enjoy the benefits of a plea agreement, but to be able to avoid doing what was clearly contemplated when that agreement was reached.”

(k)
In Santobello, Chief Justice Burger expressed the principle as follows:

“Those circumstances will vary, but a constant factor is that when a plea rests in any significant degree on a promise or agreement of the prosecutor, so that it can be said to be part of the inducement or consideration, such promise must be fulfilled.”

 AUTONUMLGL  
(a)
The functions and duties of the NDPP are provided for in the FC in section 179 and in the National Prosecuting Authority Act 32 of 1998. Those duties fall to be carried out in a manner that is consistent with the FC.  The requirement of legality requires the NDPP and the other officials to act accordingly. According to the principles that underpin the requirement of substantive fairness the NDPP is bound by an agreement that he concludes with an accused relating to the prosecution. 

(b)
Where the NDPP acts contrary to his undertaking that would amount to bad faith or mala fides and the prosecution that is brought is tainted, or put another way, the NDPP does not come to Court with “clean hands”, and the Court will not afford it any relief.
   

(c)
The duty on the NDPP (previously the Attorney-General) to uphold the integrity of his office has often been referred to, and his actions should always be above reproach.

(d)
The National Prosecuting Authority policy manual
 which it was obliged to establish in terms of section 21 (1) of the National Prosecuting Authority Act  32 of 1998, provides the following in regard to restarting a prosecution:

“People should be able to rely on and accept decisions made by members of the Prosecuting Authority.  Normally, when a suspect or an accused is informed that there will not be a prosecution or that charges have been withdrawn, that should be the end of the matter.  There may, however, be special reasons why a prosecutor will review a particular case and restart the prosecution. These include:

· an indication that the initial decision was clearly wrong and should not be allowed to stand;

· an instance where a case has not been proceeded with in order to allow the police to gather and collate more evidence, in which case the prosecutor should normally have informed the accused that the prosecution might well start again; and

· a situation where a prosecution has not been proceeded with due to the lack of evidence but where sufficient incriminating evidence has since some to light.”

(e)
This forms an integral part of the standard of conduct expected of the NDPP.  If it is the intention of the NDPP to possibly re-prosecute at some later stage, the policy requires him to disclose that, and if he does not do so and withdraws the charges the accused will ordinarily be entitled to believe that this would be the end of the matter.  The NDPP must have been alive to the policy when he dealt with accused no. 3 and he should have expected that accused no. 3 would be led to believe that the withdrawal of the charges would be the end of the matter, and would not contemplate that that it may be re-prosecuted later.

(f)
Whilst it is recognised in section 20 (1) (c) of the National Prosecuting Authority Act 32 of 1998 that the NDPP can discontinue criminal proceedings, in terms of section 22 (2) (c) of the Act, however, the NDPP may review that decision.  This power is not unlimited or uncontrolled nor can it be exercised arbitrarily.  It must be exercised after consultation with the relevant director, after taking representations from the accused, complainant and any other party that he considers relevant.  He is ultimately obliged to act reasonably, with just cause and in the interests of justice
. 

(g)
The NDPP did not afford accused nos. 2 and 3 the opportunity to make representations.  Indeed Maduna was mandated by Sooklal on behalf of accused nos. 2 and 3 to make representations on 1 September 2005.  The NDPP does not deal with this aspect of the matter and the reasons for his decision to continue with the prosecution.   Maduna relayed to accused nos. 2 and 3 that the NDPP was acting irrationally and therefore arbitrarily.

(h)
What is stated on behalf of accused nos. 2 and 3 regarding the mandate to Maduna, his carrying out of the mandate and thereafter reporting as to the outcome of his attempt to make representation, are not disputed by the State.

(i)
This of itself would demonstrate that the prosecution does not meet the requirements for legality.

(j)
Further indications of this arbitrariness is evident in the State’s action in applying for a warrant of arrest for Thetard on 19 February 2005. The State had withdrawn the previous warrants pursuant to the agreement and therefore abandoned any intention to prosecute Thetard. The explanation in the affidavit of Du Plooy that there was a breach  of the agreement and therefore the State could apply for the re-issue of the warrant is devoid of substance as the State had elected to abide by the agreement notwithstanding the alleged breach/repudiation. It is not explained what the State’s intentions were in relation to Thetard if he had been arrested. The only reasonable inference to be drawn in the absence of any rational explanation by the State for its actions is that it was actuated by some ulterior and improper motive.

(k)
The agreement that was concluded on 19 April 2004 only required that an affidavit be provided by Thetard confirming his authorship of the encrypted fax. It was only on 4 May 2004 that the NDPP indicated that the State would wish to consult with Thetard but this was not part of the agreement concluded on 19 April 2004. In the affidavit deposed to by Du Plooy on 19 February 2005 in support of an application for the re-issue of a warrant of arrest for Thetard he states that he was “informed” that the purpose for the withdrawal of the warrants was to allow Thetard to return to South Africa in order to consult with the prosecution team without fear of arrest
. This affidavit was presented to Pillay J on 19 February 2005 and a re-issue of the warrant was authorised. The learned Judge was clearly misled by this affidavit as the purpose for the withdrawal of the warrants was to obtain the affidavit concerning the authorship of the encrypted fax and nothing else. This further illustrates the improper manner in which the State has conducted itself.
 AUTONUMLGL  
(a)
To hold the State bound to an agreement concluded with an accused whereby it compromised the right to take the matter to trial, is consistent with the common law. 

(b)
The position under the common law is that an agreement that is concluded to settle a matter in dispute is binding between them and is a transactio.
  As was stated by the Court:

“The purpose of a transactio is not only to put an end to existing litigation but also to prevent or avoid litigation.”

(c)
A mistake (that does not vitiate consent) would not be sufficient to set aside such an agreement, so that a mistake as to motive or the merits of the case would not avail a party to resile from the agreement.  Parties seeking a compromise, elect to accept “an element of risk that their bargain might not be as advantageous to them as litigation might have been”.

(d)
The motive of the NDPP in concluding the agreement is therefore irrelevant.  If he thought he would thereby be achieving a different result i.e. withdrawing the charges for convenience rather than abandoning the prosecution, that cannot avail the State in refusing to recognize the agreement.  The NDPP’s mistake is a unilateral mistake and does not vitiate the consent of the parties.

(e)
A unilateral mistake cannot in any event avail the State because after it discovered its error it did not resile from the agreement but on the contrary elected to abide by the agreement
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
(a)
The State relies upon the motive of Ngcuka for concluding the agreement to withdraw the charges against accused no. 3 viz. that this arose from considerations of convenience to the State.  The convenience to the State was in having Shaik’s trial proceed without any possible challenge based on misjoinder that would cause possible delay and dislocation.   

(b)
The State’s motive for seeking the withdrawal of the charges was not shared with accused no. 3 and was not a matter on which there was mutual consensus and it’s residual intention to preserve the right to re-prosecute was not a matter that accused no. 3 agreed to.   

(c)
Accused no. 3 proposed that the charges be withdrawn to bring about finality.  The NDPP did not indicate any disapproval of this as the basis for an agreement.  Accused no. 3 relied on the NDPP’s apparent assent to the agreement having this result and agreed to the withdrawal of the charges and to providing the affidavit. 

(d)
The circumstances in which the agreement was concluded were such that accused no. 3 was reasonably led to believe that the agreement brought about an end to the prosecution.

(e)
Accused no. 3 did not agree to the withdrawal because this was convenient to the State.  It agreed, because it wished to bring finality to the prosecution and it disclosed that this is what it wished to achieve and no objection was raised by the NDPP.  

(f)
The State is bound by its apparent assent to the agreement on the basis of quasi mutual assent.

 AUTONUMLGL  
In several cases it has been held that an accused is bound by an agreement concluded with the State in terms of which he abandons the right to a trial in exchange for the State’s acceptance of a plea.
  There can be no justification for concluding that the State should not likewise be bound by the agreement here albeit not in exchange for a plea but for information, and to have abandoned the right to a trial.  The principle of pacta sunt servanda ought to apply to both parties.  

 AUTONUMLGL  
A Court will not engage in making an agreement for the parties.  Similarly the Court will not relieve a party from an agreement simply because it is hard done thereby or it was injudicious in agreeing to its terms or because it operates unduly harshly on one of the parties
.

 AUTONUMLGL  
(a)
The State contends 
that accused no. 3 breached the agreement by not acting in good faith by procuring an affidavit from Thetard that was exculpatory.

(b)
This is an after thought.  It is manifest that the State was provided with a copy of the affidavit on 22 May 2004.  Notwithstanding this it elected to abide by the agreement and eventually carried out its side of the bargain 
by withdrawing the charges.  In these circumstances it is bound by its election and cannot now seek to resile from the agreement.

(c)
A material breach gives rise to two inconsistent remedies i.e. either to cancel or to abide by its terms.  The innocent party is put to an election between these inconsistent remedies, and once he elects he is bound by his election and cannot later change his decision.

(d)
The NDPP elected to abide by the agreement and even if the second affidavit amounted to a breach of the agreement, the State is bound by that election, and cannot now seek to rely on the breach as a basis to resile from the agreement.

(e)
Furthermore the State accepted the benefits arising from the agreement. It obtained a withdrawal of the charges against accused no. 3 in reliance upon the agreement and was able to proceed with the trial without having to meet a possible case based on misjoinder and the consequent delay that would occasion, as well as having to try the case against accused no. 3.

(f)
Accused no. 3 on the other hand gave up the right to a trial to which it was entitled at that stage.

 AUTONUMLGL  
The State is therefore bound by the agreement and has shown no lawful basis for it to resile therefrom.  It is bound to honour its undertaking and cannot proceed with a prosecution in conflict with its undertaking.

 AUTONUMLGL  
The position of accused no. 2 has to be considered differently because it was not referred to in the letter from the NDPP.

 AUTONUMLGL  
The State had not disclosed any intention of prosecuting accused no. 2.  Had it done so there can be no doubt that it would also have been covered by the undertakings that were sought.  The State now seeks to exploit this to its advantage.  

 AUTONUMLGL  
The State did not deal with the Thales representatives fairly.  It should have informed them of the intention to charge accused no. 2.  For the reasons dealt with above the State knew that Thales wanted a settlement that would finally resolve the matter so that neither it nor any of the companies in the group would be subjected to any further embarrassment arising from the allegations made by the State. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
The circumstances in which the discussions took place placed the State under a duty to speak, and to disclose any such intention.  The failure to disclose in such circumstances would be mala fide and the State cannot benefit from its wrongdoing.  The NDPP would then be approaching the Court with “unclean hands” and acting contrary to its duties as the prosecuting authority.

 AUTONUMLGL  
Simply on this basis the NDPP would infringe accused no. 2’s right to substantive fairness and it would be precluded from prosecuting accused no. 2. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
In acting in that manner the State sought an affidavit from Thetard who was the erstwhile director of accused no. 2, that he make an incriminating admission viz. that he is the author of the encrypted fax.  This in itself violated accused no. 2’s right to silence and its right against self incrimination.  The admission was sought without warning accused no. 2 of its right to remain silent.

 AUTONUMLGL  
For these reasons the prosecution against accused nos. 2 and 3 ought to be stayed.

 AUTONUMLGL  
Accused no. 3 was not charged on the “general corruption” charge in the Shaik trial.  The inter-relationship of the underlying incidents that are alleged in relation to that charge and the charge relating to corruption in relation to the encrypted letter, are such that the latter count would fall within the broad terms of the corruption alleged in the “general corruption”.  The effect thereof is that by compromising the charge relating to the incident surrounding the encrypted fax, the State also compromised the charge of general corruption.

 AUTONUMLGL  
In the State v Shaik and Others accused no.3 was cited as accused no. 11 on the indictment. Accused No. 3 was charged in the main with one count of corruption in contravention of section 1(1)(a)(i) of the Corruption Act No.94 of 1992 and with two alternative charges framed under the Prevention of Organized Crime Act, No. 121 of 1998 [viz; section 4(a) and/or (b) and 6(a),(b) or(c)].

 AUTONUMLGL  
In the case of the State v Zuma and 2 Others, accused nos. 2 and 3 are charged in the main with two counts of corruption in contravention of 1(1)(a) of the Corruption Act No. 94 of 1992 (Counts 2 and 4) and in the alternative with charges in terms of the Prevention and Combating of Corrupt Activities Act, No. 12 of 2004.

 AUTONUMLGL  
A comparison of both indictments indicates that they virtually mirror each other in all material respects of the allegations and facts which are contained in the preamble and the summary of substantial facts. These relate to:

(a) the relationship between the parties, Shaik/Nkobi Group, Thomson/Thales/Thint Group and Zuma;

(b) the political standing and influence of Zuma;

(c) 
the ambition and business methods of Shaik;

(d) the desire of Thomson/Thales Group to do business in South Africa and its need for a politically acceptable Black Economic Empowerment Company;

(e) the various projects Nkobi/Thomson/Thint anticipated bidding successfully for;

(f) the money paid by Nkobi to Zuma;

(g) the money paid by Thomson/Thales to Nkobi that was indirectly paid for Zuma’s benefit; 

(h) the influence Zuma wielded in paving the way for Nkobi and Thomson to successfully participate in securing contracts. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
Shaik Indictment 

The charge of Corruption read with the preamble thereto alleges that: 

(a)
During the period 30 September 1999 to 2001 and at Durban in the district of Durban, the accused unlawfully and corruptly agreed and/or offered to give and/or gave an amount of R500 000 annually, in total R1 million, in instalments of  R250 000, to finance Zuma’s traditional residential village estate at Nkandla;    

(b)
payment was disguised as a “service provider agreement” as a device to conceal the true nature of the bribe which was not legally due to Zuma; 

(c)
Zuma had certain powers conferred and duties described by virtue of his various public offices as, inter alia, member of the KZN legislature, Minister of Economic Affairs and Tourism and Deputy President of the Republic of South Africa; 

(d)
by virtue of his office, Zuma was obliged not to have undertaken any other paid work, or acted inconsistently with his office or used his position to enrich himself or improperly benefit any other person;  

(e) these payment(s) were made or agreed upon with the  intention to influence Zuma to commit and/or omit any act in relation to his powers and/or duties to further the interests of the accused and/or the entities associated with the accused as follows: 

(i)
allowing Shaik to use his i.e. Zuma’s name in order to promote his Shaik’s business interests and those of his companies (including accused no. 3) and in so doing Shaik did not have to provide any capital or expertise in certain joint ventures;    

(ii)
to assist in  the dispute between Thomson and Nkobi which was resolved on 18 November 1998,which resulted in Thomson selling to Nkobi Investments an effective shareholding in ADS which  enabled Nkobi to benefit from profits arising from the corvette contract when they would arise;
 

(iii)
to protect accused no. 3 against the investigations pertaining to alleged irregularities in respect of the arms deal; 

(iv)
to assist in negotiations or communications with or in respect of the following projects:

· David Wilson of the Renong Group of Malaysia-Point Development, Durban;

· Peter Watt of Altron - Defence and other technologies in Malaysia;

· Deva Ponnoosami and Professor John Lennon-Tourist school in KZN;

· Thomson-CSF France - New Airport in Durban;

· Fouad Alghanim of Kuwait-establishment of Investment Bank;

· The establishment of an Nkobi Bank-to compete for Government/Ministries business;

· Jeffrey Crane of Crane(Africa)(Pty) Ltd-Tourist initiatives in northern KZN;

· Hakim Belo-Osagie Chairman of United bank for Africa PLC- 3rd Cellular network in South Africa;

· Grant-Scriven of Venson PLC-Fleet service for SAPS.

 AUTONUMLGL  
The alternative counts refer to a common purpose between the accused to commit the unlawful activities connected with those mentioned in the main count and more particularly in respect of the “service provider agreement” and/or the Nkandla development.  

 AUTONUMLGL  
Zuma Indictment

The charges of corruption relate to:

Count 2:

(a)
During 25 October 1999 to 18 August 2005 and at Durban, Shaik corruptly gave benefits which were not due to Accused No.1with the intention to influence accused no.1 to further the interest of Shaik and/or Thomson/Thales/Accused nos. 2 and 3 and with the intention to reward accused no.1 for acting in excess of his powers or in neglect of his duties;

(b)
During September 1997 to 18 August 2005 and at various places accused nos. 2 and 3 corruptly associated themselves with and relied on the benefits to accused no. 1 as a means to obtain assistance from accused no. 1 in respect of the ADS dispute, for the benefit of accused nos. 2 and 3 and Thomson-CSF;

(c)
Accused nos. 2 and 3 corruptly assisted Shaik to maintain the benefits to accused no. 1 by joining with Shaik in obtaining accused no. 1’s approval for the partnership between Shaik and accused no. 3 in the acquisition of ADS, thereby ensuring the survival of Nkobi and ensuring that Shaik and Nkobi would derive sufficient funds from future ADS dividends to keep up the benefits to accused no. 1;

(d)
Accused nos. 2 and 3 corruptly agreed to make annual payments to accused no. 1 to prevent the corrupt benefits from being discovered.

 AUTONUMLGL  
Count 4 is in all material respects the same as count 2 in the Shaik indictment.

THE FAILURE TO HAVE THE TRIAL BEGIN AND CONCLUDE WITHOUT UNREASONABLE DELAY

 AUTONUMLGL  
The importance of this right cannot be over emphasized.  Even before international criminal tribunals this right is guaranteed.  It has been described as follows:

“The right to a speedy trial is considered one of the fundamental procedural rights of a person accused of a criminal offence. This right is enshrined in the constitutions and laws of many nations and is also found in numerous international instruments. It is no surprise, then, that the right to a speedy trial has been guaranteed before the major international criminal tribunal.”
  

 AUTONUMLGL  
The importance of this right is that it serves the purpose of ensuring that the accused receives a fair trial.  The importance of process in this context is directly related to the quality of trial that the accused will receive.  Farrell explains this as follows:

“This right also is ‘crucial to the guarantee of a fair trial because undue delays may cause the loss of evidence or the fading of the memories of the witnesses’. A lengthy delay prior to trial increases the possibility that physical evidence will become lost, tainted or destroyed. Moreover, a correlation exists between the passage of time and the accuracy of eyewitnesses and other testimonial evidence. Although this may be prejudicial to either prosecution or defense in a criminal trial, it is the defendant whose rights must be more scrupulously protected.”

 AUTONUMLGL  
In the case of a natural person, the right also serves the important purpose of minimizing the emotional strain suffered by the accused.
  This is not to be accorded any lesser weight in the case of accused nos. 2 and 3 because of their corporate status, because it is Moynot that faces this strain as he is the representative of the companies. As far as the embarrassment that is suffered is concerned, the Thales Group, which includes accused nos. 2 and 3, has been complaining of this since 2004. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
In assessing whether the delay that has occurred in this matter is unreasonable the following must be taken into consideration.

 AUTONUMLGL  
Accused nos. 3 was charged in 2004 and the charges were withdrawn.  The State was able to prosecute Shaik on the same charge and had no difficulty doing so.  Its unreadiness to be able to proceed with the trial from November 2005 when the indictment was served on accused nos. 2 and 3, is surprising to say the least.  

 AUTONUMLGL  
Similar considerations apply to count 2 relating to the general corruption charge.

 AUTONUMLGL  
In the case of the Shaik matter, the decision to charge Shaik was taken in August 2003 and the indictment was served in February 2004 i.e. after approximately 7 months.  In this matter, accused no. 1 was brought before Court in June 2005 and the matter came before this Court for trial on 31 July 2006, after approximately 14 months, and the State has still not presented the final indictment.  There can be no acceptable justification for this.  The State has had twice as long to prepare the indictment and has not been able to do so. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
The State alleges that it wishes to amend the indictment.  Where the matter is set down for trial the State does not have the luxury of seeking an adjournment for its asking to amend the indictment.  It must indicate what amendment it seeks to effect and that the amendment will raise triable issues. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
The criminal trial process must afford the accused a fair trial.  This means that the issue of fairness arises in relation to the application for an adjournment. There is no reason why principles that have applied to civil cases in regard to such matters cannot afford some guidance to determining what is fair. These principles have evolved out of concerns for fairness in any event.  

 AUTONUMLGL  
Caney J explained the necessity for a party seeking an amendment at the eleventh hour having to explain, inter alia, why he should be afforded that indulgence as follows: 

“Having already made his case in his pleading, if he wishes to change or add to this, he must explain the reason and show prima facie that he has something deserving of consideration, a triable issue; he cannot be allowed to harass his   opponent by an amendment which has no foundation.”

 AUTONUMLGL  
The State must show:

“ …. for instance, that the matter involved in the amendment is of sufficient importance to justify him in putting the Court and the other party to the manifold inconveniences of a postponement. . . .”

 AUTONUMLGL  
The State cannot simply state in broad terms that it wishes to amend the indictment and leave unsaid what amendment it proposes to make.  The adjournment sought to effect an amendment stated in those terms cannot meet the standard of fairness as expressed in the above requirements.

 AUTONUMLGL  
Delay that arises after the institution of the prosecution is dealt with in section 342A (2) and (3) of the Criminal Procedure Act

 AUTONUMLGL  
Section 342A (2) provides for the factors that a court must consider in dealing with the question whether any delay is unreasonable:

“(2) In considering the question whether any delay is unreasonable, the court shall consider the following factors: 



(a)
The duration of the delay; 



(b)
the reasons advanced for the delay; 



(c)
whether any person can be blamed for the delay; 

(d)
the effect of the delay on the personal circumstances of the accused and witnesses; 

(e)
the seriousness, extent or complexity of the charge or charges; 

(f)
actual or potential prejudice caused to the State or the defence by the delay, including a weakening of the quality of evidence, the possible death or disappearance or non-availability of witnesses, the loss of evidence, problems regarding the gathering of evidence and considerations of cost; 



(g)
the effect of the delay on the administration of justice; 

(h)
the adverse effect on the interests of the public or the victims in the event of the prosecution being stopped or discontinued; 

(i)
any other factor which in the opinion of the court ought to be taken into account.”

 AUTONUMLGL  
The duration of delay in the trial is substantial.  Accused nos. 2 and 3 could have been tried in 2004 with Shaik and the trial would have been completed by now. It does not lie in the mouth of the State to argue that accused no. 3 requested the withdrawal of the charges.  This is no answer because accused no. 3 did not know then that the State intended to re-prosecute.  The State bears the duty to bring the matter to trial without unreasonable delay.

 AUTONUMLGL  
The State does not advance any justifiable explanations for the delay.  Such explanations that have been given have not been consistent and are contradictory.  It quite improperly seeks to blame the accused for the delay inter alia because it sought to vindicate its rights by bringing proceedings to challenge the validity of the search warrants.  The criticism is misplaced.  An accused is entitled to bring such proceedings and to assert its rights.  By the time the indictment was served on accused nos 2 and 3 the State knew of its difficulties in relation to the challenge brought by accused no. 1. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
This explanation for the delay is any event abandoned by McCarthy, who now states that even if the other litigation is not finalised the State will proceed with the case.  If this attitude is taken now then the State could have adopted that attitude earlier and proceeded with the trial instead of advancing these spurious grounds for the adjournment.

 AUTONUMLGL  
The State is to be blamed for the delay notwithstanding its protestations to the contrary.  It has failed to arrange its preparation for the case so that it is ready to proceed.  The dates were arranged as long ago as 4 November 2005.  It has had twice as long as the time it took in the Shaik matter to prepare its final indictment, and has failed to finalise the indictment.  It must take blame for its inability to have done so. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
The delay has caused immense public embarrassment to the accused, and has placed emotional strain on the representative of accused nos 2 and 3 and on accused no. 1.  The public embarrassment that accused nos 2 and 3 have had to endure was brought to the State’s attention in 2004 and resulted in discussions that led to the withdrawal of the charges.  This resulted in loss of business to the group internationally.  By bringing up the charges again the prejudice that was caused arises all over again.  The longer the State takes to bring the matter to trial, the more enduring the prejudice.

 AUTONUMLGL  
Although the charges are serious and the facts are complex, the State has had the advantage of running one trial and dealing with all of the facts, therefore the complexity of the case is not a factor of great significance.  The seriousness of the charges is a matter that the State should have taken into account when it decided not to prosecute accused no. 1 and to withdraw the charges against accused no. 3.  It must accept the consequences of not prosecuting timeously.

 AUTONUMLGL  
Accused nos. 2 and 3 suffer real prejudice from the decision to withdraw and reinstitute the charges.  There are practical considerations that underlie the policy to prosecute co-conspirators together.  When the State departs from this there are consequences to the accused.  Accused nos. 2 and 3 would have had the advantage of cross-examining Shaik in regard to the allegations, and to the findings made regarding credibility.  In all likelihood Shaik will not be called as a witness in this trial having been discredited in the previous trial. The accused have been deprived of the benefits in alleged co-conspirators being tried together.  

 AUTONUMLGL  
The witnesses that testified in the Shaik trial will invariably not have the same degree of recall to the detail that is material to their evidence and this will affect the quality of their evidence.  It cannot be predicted whether all of the material witnesses are still alive and whether when the trial commences next year they will still be alive. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
The delay has also occasioned harm on the administration of justice, since the accused are entitled to a fair trial.  To turn a blind eye to the NDPP concluding an agreement to withdraw the charges against accused no. 3 and then acting contrary to his undertaking by re-instituting the charges, will reflect poorly on the administration of justice.   

 AUTONUMLGL  
This is a matter that has attracted wide public interest.  The public humiliation that an accused person suffers through the continual public comment and scrutiny about the allegations, is a matter that cannot be in the public interest. There comes a time where every accused is entitled to closure.

 AUTONUMLGL  
In this context it is relevant to have regard to the judgment in the German case of,  LeBach 35 BverfGE 202.  It concerned a person who had been convicted of armed robbery in the course of which several guards were killed or wounded. He was sentenced to 6 years imprisonment.  The trial attracted considerable public attention.  Years later and several months before he was to be released a German station planned to run a documentary play based on the crime.  The program would display his photograph, use his name, and make reference to his homosexual tendencies.  The complainant sought an injunction prohibiting the broadcast of the play.  The Court recognised that two constitutional rights were in issue, the complainant’s right to develop his personality and human dignity, and the broadcaster’s right to provide information.  More important for present purposes is the Court’s finding that ultimately the complainant’s right to closure and to carry on his life without continuous public scrutiny out weighed the broadcaster’s right to provide information.  The Court stated the following:

“The radiating effect of the constitutional guarantee of the right of personality does not, however, permit the media, over and above reporting on contemporary events, to intrude undefinitely upon the person and private sphere of the criminal. Instead, when the public’s interest in receiving current information [about the crime] has been satisfied, the criminal’s right to be left alone increases in importance, [thus] limiting the extent to which the media and the public may convert the individual sphere of his life into an object of discussion or entertainment … Once a criminal court has prosecuted and convicted a defendant for an act that has attracted public attention, and he has experienced the just reaction of the community, any further or repeated invasion of the criminal’s personal sphere cannot normally be justified.  …  [Courts] may treat the criminal’s interest in rehabilitation or in recovering his position in society as a decisive factor in determining the limits on broadcasting.  In any case, a televised report concerning a serious crime that is no longer justified by the public’s interest in receiving information about current events may not be rebroadcast if it endangers the social rehabilitation of the criminal.  The criminal’s vital interest in being reintegrated into society and the interest of the community in restoring him to his social position must generally have precedence over the public’s interest in a further discussion of the crime.”

 AUTONUMLGL  
It is relevant for the Court to also take into account that the State could have achieved finality in this matter a long time ago, when it charged Shaik, by continuing with the prosecution against accused no. 3 and joining accused no. 2.  The State has abdicated its role in this state of affairs having arisen.  The Supreme Court of Appeal has already viewed the State’s complaint that witnesses may be affected by the broadcast of the appeal proceedings unsympathetically , and stated that the State must accept the blame for that because it could have charged the present accused with Shaik and had one trial
. 

 AUTONUMLGL  
Having regard to each of the factors in section 342A (2), the State has not shown that the delay is not unreasonable.
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